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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 On July 8, 2015, Governor Andrew Cuomo signed Executive Order No. 147 (the “Executive 
Order”), appointing the Attorney General as a special prosecutor “to investigate, and if warranted, 
prosecute certain matters involving the death of an unarmed civilian . . . caused by a law enforcement 
officer.”  On February 8, 2017, Wardel Davis, III died after a physical altercation with two members of 
the Buffalo Police Department (“BPD”).  Governor Cuomo subsequently issued Executive Order No. 
147.9, which expressly conferred jurisdiction upon the Attorney General to investigate any potential 
unlawful acts or omissions by any law enforcement officers relating to Mr. Davis’s death. 
 
 Pursuant to Executive Orders No. 147 and 147.9, the investigation by the Office of the Attorney 
General (“OAG”) included, among other investigative steps: 

 
• Interviews of 22 BPD officers; 

• Canvasses of the neighborhood in which the incident took place for witnesses, 
surveillance video, or other evidence concerning the altercation; 

• Review of the Erie County Medical Examiner (“Medical Examiner”) Report;  

• Review of a report by an independent pathologist retained by the OAG for this 
investigation; 

• Review of over 1,800 pages of Mr. Davis’s medical records, including both historical 
medical records and records relating to treatment Mr. Davis received after the 
altercation with the BPD officers;  

• Review of communications by Mr. Davis shortly before his interaction with the two 
BPD officers, including cell phone video, social media, and text messages;  

• Review of 911 dispatch recordings and GPS data from the police car operated by the 
two BPD officers.   

• Review of statements and reports made by the officers involved at the scene, in Use of 
Force reports, to the ME, and as part of an administrative review. 

As stated in greater detail below, the key facts relevant to assessing whether there were any 
potential unlawful acts or omissions by any law enforcement officers relating to Mr. Davis’s death 
were as follows: 

• On and shortly before February 7, 2017, Mr. Davis, who suffered from asthma, 
complained to a friend and to family of chest pain, a persistent cough, and 
shortness of breath. 
 

• Later that night, BPD Officers Nicholas Parisi and Todd McAlister, while on 
patrol, spotted Mr. Davis, whom they knew from previous arrests, exiting a 
house they understood to be associated with drug dealing.  
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• They confronted Mr. Davis based on a suspicion that he may have engaged in 
an unlawful narcotics transaction. 

 
• The officers claim Mr. Davis admitted to having drugs on his person. 

 
• They claim that they attempted to arrest and search Mr. Davis, who briefly 

fled, fell, and proceeded to resist arrest violently. 
 

• One of the officers admitted to punching Mr. Davis several times during the 
physical altercation, causing injuries to his face.  

 
• The officers claimed that the use of force was necessary to protect the officers 

from harm and to effectuate the arrest.  
 

• Shortly after being handcuffed, the officers claimed Mr. Davis appeared 
distressed and to stop breathing.  The officers said they then removed the 
handcuffs and promptly began chest compressions. 

 
• They also called an ambulance. EMTs and ambulance personnel took over 

upon their arrival and continued these measures on the scene, in the 
ambulance, and at the hospital.  

 
• Mr. Davis was pronounced dead at 12:04 a.m. on February 8, 2017. 

 
Much of what we know about Mr. Davis’s interaction with the BPD officers derives from 

multiple statements from the officers themselves. A number of investigative steps were taken to 
identify other witnesses or evidence, including: (1) several canvasses of the neighborhood, which 
yielded one witness and two videos; (2) witness leads from Mr. Davis’s family and girlfriend, which 
led to six additional interviews; and (3) review of Mr. Davis’s cell phone and follow-up on leads 
obtained from the phone.  These efforts did not yield evidence that directly supports or contradicts the 
officers’ accounts of the physical interaction with Mr. Davis.1  

 
According to both the ME and an independent pathologist retained by the OAG, Mr. Davis’s 

death was due to his underlying asthmatic condition, which was exacerbated by acute bronchitis and 
exertion due to the physical altercation with Officers Parisi and McAlister.  The conclusions of the 
ME and the independent pathologist are supported by Mr. Davis’s medical history and the complaints 
of illness that he made to friends and family prior to the incident.  

 
Based on these facts, there is insufficient evidence to warrant any criminal charges in this 

matter.  The only witnesses to the physical altercation are the two BPD officers involved in it and there 
is no video evidence of the altercation.  The officers reported that they used force to subdue Mr. Davis 
                                                 
1 These investigative steps are discussed in detail in Appendix A.  The statements from the officers themselves are 
described in detail in Appendix B. Attached hereto as exhibits are: (1) social media communication by Mr. Davis; (2) the 
ME’s report and notes taken by the ME concerning the ME’s interview of Officers McAlister and Parisi; (3) the 
independent pathologist’s report and his curriculum vitae; and (4) reports done by the officers reflecting their accounts of 
the incident.      
 

http://www.criminaljustice.ny.gov/ops/accred/accredited-agencies.htm
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in the course of an arrest.  The medical evidence shows that Mr. Davis sustained injuries, including 
injuries to his face that are consistent with a struggle.  The medical evidence also shows that Mr. 
Davis’s death was precipitated by exertion and an underlying asthmatic condition, and not the injuries 
suffered in the altercation.  

 
Under New York law, the officers were permitted to use reasonable force to arrest Mr. Davis 

and to protect themselves in response to any use of force by Mr. Davis as they tried to arrest him.  
Given that there is no evidence contradicting the officers’ account, there is no basis to conclude that 
the force used by the officers was not necessary to arrest Mr. Davis. 

  
*        *         * 

 
  Executive Orders No. 147 and 147.9 provide that the OAG may offer “any recommendations 

for systemic reform arising from the investigation.”  We make three recommendations for systemic 
reform.  
 

First, the ME’s office should adopt policies consistent with National Association of Medical 
Examiners (“NAME”) standards. 

 
The ME insisted on speaking with Officers McAlister and Parisi before making a scientific 

conclusion about the cause and manner of death.  Moreover, the ME told the OAG investigative team 
prior to her meeting with the officers that if the officers refused to meet with her, she would (1) deem 
Mr. Davis’s death to have been caused by positional asphyxia (i.e., restraint by the officers in a manner 
that limited or cut off Mr. Davis’s oxygen intake), and not due to his underlying asthmatic condition 
and (2) report that the BPD refused to cooperate with her.2  Adoption of policies consistent with 
NAME standards would help provide assurance that the ME’s investigations are conducted in a 
professional manner.      

 
Second, the BPD should take steps to obtain accreditation by the New York State Division of 

Criminal Justice Services (“DCJS”).  The accreditation process assists police agencies in evaluating 
and improving their overall performance.  As discussed in more detail below, the BPD’s investigation 
of this matter had shortcomings in the areas of collecting evidence and photographing the scene.3  
  

Third, the BPD should outfit officers with body-worn cameras and marked vehicles with 
dashboard cameras.  Videotaped evidence would have greatly facilitated the investigation of this case. 
We encourage the BPD and City of Buffalo policy makers to continue their efforts toward outfitting 
as many officers and vehicles as possible with body-worn and dashboard cameras. 

 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 Because of the ME’s actions and statements, the OAG retained an independent pathologist to review the ME’s conclusion.  
The independent pathologist’s review arrived at substantially the same conclusion as the ME (i.e., that Mr. Davis’s death 
was precipitated by exertion and his underlying asthmatic condition).  
 
3 Approximately 150 police departments in the State of New York have been accredited by DCJS.  A list of the departments 
can be found here: http://www.criminaljustice.ny.gov/ops/accred/accredited-agencies.htm.   
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

These are the key events occurring before, during, and after the incident relevant to assessing 
whether there were any potential unlawful acts or omissions by any law enforcement officers relating 
to Mr. Davis’s death (the “Incident”).4   
 

A. Relevant Events Preceding the Incident 
 

Wardel Davis, III was born in August 1996.  He lived with his paternal grandparents on the 
West Side of Buffalo.   
 

Officers Nicholas J. Parisi and Todd C. McAlister were partners assigned to a detail 
responsible for proactively responding to quality of life complaints, including narcotics complaints.  

 
   Officers Parisi and McAlister knew Mr. Davis. On January 29, 2016, Officer Parisi arrested 

Mr. Davis for two misdemeanor, non-drug-related offenses.  Marijuana was found on his person at 
that time.  On November 8, 2016, Officers Parisi and McAlister arrested Mr. Davis for three 
misdemeanor, drug-related offenses.5  

 
The November 8, 2016 arrest resulted in Mr. Davis’s supervision by the Erie County Probation 

Department (“Probation”) under its Release Under Supervision (“RUS”) program.  Under the terms 
of his RUS release, Mr. Davis was required to sign an agreement that required him to refrain from any 
criminal activity, including the use of illicit drugs and alcohol, submit to random drug and alcohol 
testing, and report to court and to Probation as required.  
 

Records from the Erie County District Attorney’s Office (“ECDA” or “District Attorney”) 
reflect that Mr. Davis had an open Adjournment in Contemplation of Dismissal (“ACD”) arising out 
of a prior arrest, believed to be the disposition of the January 2016 arrest. A defendant who receives 
an ACD must meet the conditions of the Court, including remaining arrest-free, typically for a period 
of six months.  If the defendant is arrested again during the six-month period, the ACD can be revoked 
and the original charge can be reinstated.  This means that the defendant can face prosecution and, if 
convicted, sentencing, on the previous charges in addition to the new charges. 
 

Notations in the District Attorney’s file, dated January 25, 2017, state that Mr. Davis was “not 
compliant” with his RUS terms, which included mandatory drug-testing. Such non-compliance 
generally would result in the revocation of an ACD and the reinstatement of the previously resolved 
January charges, along with the continued prosecution of the three misdemeanor drug-related offenses 
for which Mr. Davis had been arrested on November 8, 2016.   

 
According to Probation records, Mr. Davis missed a Court-ordered appointment on February 

6, 2017.  He was scheduled to appear in court on February 8, 2017.  
 

                                                 
4 None of the information referenced in this report was obtained by grand jury subpoena.   
 
5 The information relating to Mr. Davis’s prior arrests is included only because it is relevant to the officer’s basis for 
stopping Mr. Davis.   
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According to both Mr. Davis’s grandparents and girlfriend, Mr. Davis was concerned about 
being remanded to jail at that court appearance.6  
 

Also according to these witnesses, on and before February 7, 2017, Mr. Davis had been sick 
and had complained of chest pain and a persistent cough. Mr. Davis suffered from asthma from a 
young age. His girlfriend urged him to go to the doctor prior to the scheduled February 8, 2017 court 
appearance, because she believed that he would not get adequate medical care in jail.  

 
A man who is a friend of Mr. Davis (“Witness 1”), told investigators that on and after Saturday, 

February 4, 2017, Mr. Davis complained about gasping for air and “losing his air” when he was 
sleeping. Witness 1 said that Mr. Davis’s condition was “real bad.”  

 
At about 10:45 p.m., on February 7, 2017, Witness 1 had the following text exchange with Mr. 

Davis:7 
 
Davis:   I can’t breath 
Witness 1:      Go To The Hospital Dude 
Davis:   I’m am in a lil bite 
Witness 1:       No Now 
Davis:   After I make a couple more dollars 
Witness 1:      Ok 
Davis:   Ok I promise 

  
Witness 1 spoke to Mr. Davis by telephone after they texted. According to Mr. Davis’s phone 

records, Mr. Davis called Witness 1 at 10:45 p.m.  They spoke for approximately six minutes and 
thirty seconds. Witness 1 said that, during this telephone call, Mr. Davis again stated he was feeling 
sick and having trouble breathing. The call ended at approximately 10:52 p.m.  

 
B. The Incident 

 
At 11:16 p.m., Officers Parisi and McAlister turned north onto Hoyt Street in their marked 

vehicle on a routine patrol. In connection with their detail, the officers knew that crack and heroin 
were regularly and recently sold at 19 Hoyt Street.  Officer Parisi was driving and Officer McAlister 
was in the passenger seat. It was approximately 45 degrees and had been raining intermittently. 

 
The officers recognized Mr. Davis exiting 19 Hoyt Street. Officer Parisi stopped the vehicle in 

front of 13 and 15 Hoyt Street, a little more than halfway between West Ferry and Arnold Street, at a 
slight angle to the curb.  

                                                 
6 That Mr. Davis may have faced increased criminal sanctions if found in violation of the terms of a court program may 
explain why he attempted to flee from the officers on the night of February 7, 2017.   
 
7 The full screenshot of this text message is attached as Exhibit 1.  Mr. Davis’s photo accompanied each line of text from 
him.  Witness 1 refused to provide his phone to law enforcement for forensic analysis.  Instead, he gave the BPD a 
screenshot of the exchange quoted above, and he blocked out portions that followed the quoted language.   
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The OAG’s understanding of what happened in the next four minutes is based primarily on 
statements made by Officers Parisi and McAlister to persons other than OAG investigators.8  

 
Mr. Davis was walking south on the east side of Hoyt when Officer McAlister opened the 

passenger side door of the patrol vehicle and approached him.  Officer McAlister ordered Mr. Davis 
to remove his hands from his jacket pocket and stood behind him as Officer Parisi came around the 
vehicle and stood in front of him. Officer McAlister stated that he immediately ordered Mr. Davis to 
remove his hands from his pockets.  

 
Officer Parisi asked Mr. Davis if he had anything illegal on him. Both officers claim that Mr. 

Davis admitted to possessing “weed” and that he stated that he had a court appearance scheduled for 
the next morning. The officers claim that they told him again to remove his hands from his pockets, 
but that he did not. The officers said it was then that they decided to handcuff Mr. Davis to perform a 
search safely. Officer McAlister said that he then took out his handcuffs and grabbed Mr. Davis’s left 
arm.  The officers claim that Mr. Davis then pulled away, fled, was pursued and grabbed briefly by 
Officer McAlister, broke free, ran about 20 feet, fell, and then violently resisted both officers in their 
attempt to arrest him. In what he says was an attempt to subdue Mr. Davis and protect himself and his 
partner, Officer Parisi admitted to punching Mr. Davis several times in the face with a closed fist and 
to placing Mr. Davis’s head and neck in the crook of his arm.  During this time, Officer McAlister 
attempted to place handcuffs on Mr. Davis.9  The officers claim that they repeatedly told Mr. Davis to 
stop resisting.  

 
During the struggle, at 11:19 pm, Officer McAlister radioed an urgent call.10 Officer McAlister 

mistakenly identified his location as 15 Boyd Street. Three officers responded to 15 Boyd Street and 
then were rerouted to 15 Hoyt Street when Officer Parisi radioed the correct location one minute later. 

 
Shortly after Officer McAlister’s urgent calls, the officers successfully handcuffed Mr. Davis. 

Officer McAlister searched Mr. Davis for weapons. The officers found no weapons or contraband, and 
Officer Parisi stated that he did not see Mr. Davis put anything in his mouth. The total distance between 
the location where the officers first saw Mr. Davis and the location where he was handcuffed was 
approximately 62 feet.  
 
 

                                                 
8 Officers Parisi and McAlister have a Fifth Amendment right not to speak to the OAG.  They declined to speak to the 
OAG unless the OAG agreed to interview them jointly.  The OAG declined this request for two reasons.  First, well-
established best practices (and the OAG’s own practice for all witnesses in this investigation) make clear that witnesses, 
especially interested witnesses, should be interviewed separately.  See generally 6 Wigmore §§ 1837–1838 (“The efficacy 
of excluding or sequestering witnesses has long been recognized as a means of discouraging and exposing fabrication, 
inaccuracy, and collusion.”); accord People v. McConville, 55 Misc. 3d 501 (NY Sup. Ct. 1/11/17); People v. Drake, 188 
Misc. 2d 210 (NY Sup. Ct. 4/6/01).  Second, the OAG had available to it a number of statements made by Officers 
McAlister and Parisi; these statements were made to other BPD officers at the scene, on BPD forms, to BPD supervisors 
in connection with BPD’s internal affairs review process, and to the ME. See Appendix B.  
 
9 According to the ME’s notes from her interview of the officers, the officers said that once Mr. Davis was on the ground, 
they used force against Mr. Davis out of concern that he was trying to  swallow the drugs that he allegedly was carrying. 
 
10 The timing is based on BPD’s Computer Aided Dispatch (“CAD”) radio transmissions.  The CAD system timestamps 
were compared with the GPS timestamps and found to be within seconds to tenths of seconds in sync with each other.  
However, when more than one radio call is being made, the CAD system cannot timestamp each call simultaneously, and 
the timestamp of the call may be later than the actual radio transmission. 
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Map of Scene of Incident  
 

 
 

At 11:20 p.m., the first back-up officer, Officer Joseph Bonner, arrived at 15 Hoyt Street. He 
described seeing Officers Parisi and McAlister in the street by a driveway with Mr. Davis, who was 
prone on the ground and being handcuffed by the officers.  Officer Bonner saw that the officers had 
put one handcuff on Mr. Davis, but Mr. Davis was moving and the officers were struggling to cuff his 
other hand.  

 
At 11:21 p.m., Officer Parisi radioed that Mr. Davis was in custody. Lt. Kochersberger arrived 

at about that time. Lt. Kochersberger observed Mr. Davis handcuffed behind his back and lying on his 
stomach and saw Officer McAlister pat down and then turn Mr. Davis over onto his back. As Officer 
McAlister rolled Mr. Davis onto his back to continue the pat-down search, Lt. Kochersberger heard 
Mr. Davis gasp.  Lt. Kochersberger realized that Mr. Davis was in medical distress.  He told the 
officers that Mr. Davis was not breathing and instructed them to remove the handcuffs while he called 
for an ambulance.  He made that call at 11:22 p.m.   

 
According to Lt. Kochersberger, Officer McAlister took one handcuff off of Mr. Davis and 

immediately began performing chest compressions. Altogether, the officers made five calls to dispatch 
in an effort to obtain an ambulance for Mr. Davis. While they waited for the ambulance to arrive, other 
officers who arrived on the scene took turns rendering aid to Mr. Davis, including doing chest 
compressions.11   
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
11 This is corroborated by a civilian’s video of the event. 
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Table of BPD Computer Aided Dispatch Calls Requesting an Ambulance 
   
11:22:05 • Lt. Kochersberger: “Need ADI [Ambulance Dispatch and Inspection] over to 

Hoyt” 
11:22:36 • Lt. Kochersberger:  “Rush ADI over to Hoyt” 
11:23:28 • Lt. Kochersberger:  “Is fire closer? Have them come please” 
11:23:47 • Radio: “Fire notified” 
11:24:39 • PO Sercu: “No more cars needed on Hoyt.”  Lt. Kochersberger: “We do need 

an ambulance though.” Radio: “Got an ambulance coming and fire notified” 
11:27:31 • Lt. Swaggard: “Radio, can you step up ADI?” Radio: “Clear” 
11:27:39 • Radio: “OK, ambulance and supervisor coming for ADI 
11:27:48 • Lt. Swaggard: “Fire on scene” 

 
 

At 11:27 p.m., the Fire Department arrived with Emergency Medical Technicians (“EMTs”), 
who took over Mr. Davis’s medical treatment. Shortly thereafter, the first of two ambulances arrived; 
ambulance personnel performed all subsequent medical procedures at the scene.  These procedures 
included the preparation and administration of several doses of Narcan12 and epinephrine, a synthetic 
form of adrenaline used to improve breathing and stimulate the heart. Because Mr. Davis was in full 
cardiac arrest, his clothes were cut off to prepare for the use of an Automatic External Defibrillator 
(“AED”).13  Because it began to rain very heavily, the EMTs and firefighters placed Mr. Davis into 
the ambulance and continued resuscitation efforts there.  Medical personnel did not deliver a shock 
because the AED did not detect a heart rhythm.  
 

At 11:43 p.m., the ambulance left the scene to transport Mr. Davis to the hospital. The 
ambulance personnel initially intended to take Mr. Davis to Erie County Medical Center (“ECMC”), 
but instead went to Buffalo General Hospital (“BGH”) because it is closer. They arrived at 11:53.  
Once at BGH, hospital personnel took over administering medical care to Mr. Davis. 

 
Hospital staff continued resuscitative efforts until 12:04 a.m., when Mr. Davis was pronounced 

dead.  
 
C. Processing the Scene of the Incident 

 
As multiple other patrol units arrived on the scene, some of the officers began to look for 

evidence that could have been discarded. When one officer first arrived at the scene on Hoyt Street, 
he saw Officer Parisi “covered in mud” and found Officer Parisi’s black flashlight covered in mud 
next to the officers’ car.  The officer noted that Officer McAlister’s portable radio and microphone 
were also covered in mud and lying on the ground near the location of the altercation.  

 
                                                 
12 Narcan is the trademark name for naloxone, an opiate antidote.  Opioids include heroin and prescription painkillers 
such as morphine, codeine, oxycodone, methadone and Vicodin. 
 
13 An AED is a portable device that checks heart rhythm and delivers an electric shock in an effort to restore a normal 
heart rhythm. 
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When Officer Parisi told the officer that Mr. Davis had come from 19 Hoyt Street, he walked 
to the back of 19 Hoyt Street. On the pathway towards the back of the house, he saw hypodermic 
needles and empty glassine baggies.  There appeared to be a lot of mud in the yard behind the house.  
Due to the heavy rainfall, however, no footprints were evident.  

 
The BPD Homicide, Evidence, and Photography Units were called to respond to the scene at 

12:11 a.m.  A total of eleven photographs and a 59-second video were taken.  The area behind 19 Hoyt 
Street was not photographed, despite the first responding officers being told Mr. Davis came from that 
area.  No items were taken from the scene on Hoyt Street as possible evidence.  The officers’ radio 
and flashlight were picked up before being properly documented or photographed. Only half of Mr. 
Davis’s jacket was recovered; the other half went missing. No marijuana was recovered from the 
scene.  

 
SUMMARY OF MEDICAL FINDINGS 

A. Autopsy Findings14 
 

Dr. Katherine Maloney, Deputy Chief of the Erie County Medical Examiner, performed an 
autopsy of Mr. Davis’s body.  Mr. Davis was 6’2” tall and weighed 252 pounds.  Dr. Maloney noted 
multiple “blunt impact injuries of the head, neck, torso and extremities.”  The majority of those injuries 
were contusions, i.e., bruises, and abrasions less than one inch by one inch in size.  Most of the injuries 
were located on Mr. Davis’s face, particularly around his nose, lips, and cheek.  Mr. Davis’s left eye 
was swollen shut and there was a large abrasion on his right cheek and on the right side of his nose. 
There was also a large abrasion on his right hip with specks of grit in it.  

 
The autopsy report noted that there were no bone or skull fractures.  There were several small 

hemorrhages (spots of bleeding) in the neck area.  The autopsy found no trauma, however, on the 
cervical vertebrae, hyoid bone, or tracheal and laryngeal cartilages, ruling out strangulation as a cause 
of death. The autopsy report noted a scalp hemorrhage on the right forehead. There was no evidence, 
however, of brain injury, ruling out this superficial head injury as a cause of death.  

 
Dr. Maloney examined the organs and took tissue samples from the brain, heart, lung, liver, 

and kidneys for microscopic examination.  She noted that the lung tissues showed microscopic 
evidence of acute and chronic asthma as well as acute bronchitis.  The heart tissues showed moderate 
to marked myocyte hypertrophy, which is an enlargement of the muscle cells resulting in the 
thickening of the walls of the heart.  The report noted the other organs were unremarkable.  

 
The ME submitted samples of Mr. Davis’s blood and bodily fluids for toxicological analysis. 

That analysis showed a number of legal and illicit substances in Mr. Davis’s blood, including naloxone 
(which is the generic name for Narcan); doxylamine, an antihistamine; cocaine and its metabolites; 
tetrahydrocannabinol, the psychoactive ingredient in marijuana; and methadone.  
 

The autopsy report stated that Mr. Davis’s cause of death was “Acute Asthma Exacerbation 
Complicating Acute Bronchitis in the Setting of Physical Altercation.”  Dr. Maloney’s final diagnoses 
also included the following: 
                                                 
14 Attached as Exhibit 2 are the ME’s autopsy report and notes taken by the ME concerning the ME’s interview of 
Officers McAlister and Parisi. 

https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-causes/diet-physical-activity/body-weight-and-cancer-risk/health-issues.html
https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-causes/diet-physical-activity/body-weight-and-cancer-risk/health-issues.html


  
  

10 
 

 
• Acute Bronchitis 
• Bronchial Asthma 
• Blunt Impact Injuries of the Head, Torso, and Extremities 
• Obesity, Body Mass Index 32.415 

 
Dr. Maloney ruled the manner of death a homicide, a medical conclusion used by the medical 

examiner community to mean that a death occurred at the hands of another.16  She noted that the 
homicide designation was not intended to imply “that there was intent to cause injury or that excessive 
force was used.” 
 

B. Mr. Davis’s Previous Medical Treatment Records 
 

The OAG reviewed over 1,800 pages of medical records from at least ten of Mr. Davis’s 
medical providers, including primary care physicians, mental health professionals, and hospital 
personnel.  The records indicate that Mr. Davis received a formal diagnosis of asthma at the age of 18 
months. He was first diagnosed with sleep apnea at two years old and was prescribed a Bi-PAP17 when 
he was five years old. These conditions persisted throughout his life. In addition, he had previously 
been prescribed albuterol, a bronchodilator used to treat asthma, although not for several years prior 
to 2017.  

 
In sum, Mr. Davis’s medical records confirmed his lifelong history of asthma and sleep apnea. 

They also indicate marijuana and cocaine use during the time immediately preceding his death.   
 
C. Independent Pathologist’s Findings 

 
On February 21, 2017, during the first meeting with the investigative team regarding her 

autopsy findings, Dr. Maloney insisted on speaking with the officers before forming her opinion and 
writing her autopsy report.  Dr. Maloney’s insistence on speaking with the officers (and speaking with 
them together), raised OAG’s concerns that she would place undue weight on their statements in 
forming her medical conclusions.  Additionally, Dr. Maloney suggested to OAG that she would alter 
her findings in a manner unfavorable to the officers if they did not agree to talk to her, by, as noted 
above, claiming that Mr. Davis’s death was caused by positional asphyxia. Such suggestions 
magnified OAG’s concerns.   

 
Accordingly, the OAG retained an independent pathologist, Dr. Peter Ostrow, to offer an 

additional medical conclusion.  

                                                 
15 According to the American Cancer Society website, a BMI of greater than 30.0 indicates obesity, increasing one’s risk 
of numerous diseases, including heart disease, stroke, diabetes, and sleep apnea. https://www.cancer.org/cancer/cancer-
causes/diet-physical-activity/body-weight-and-cancer-risk/health-issues.html 
 
16 A medical examiner designates the manner of death as either natural, homicide, suicide, accident, undetermined, or 
investigation pending. 
 
17 A B-PAP (Bilevel Positive Airway Pressure) machine is used to prevent sleep apnea, which is the cessation of breathing 
during sleep.  
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Dr. Ostrow reviewed the following information: 

 
• Original slides of organ tissue that were made available by and viewed at the ME’s 

Office and recuts of the slides from preserved organ tissue; 
 

• The ME’s autopsy report and case notes; 
 

• Various historical medical records of treatment received by Mr. Davis; 
  

• A list of prescribed medications filled by a local pharmacy for Mr. Davis since 2012;  
 

• Statements of multiple individuals, including Mr. Davis’s grandmother, girlfriend, and 
friends, concerning the status of Mr. Davis’s health during the days and weeks before 
his death; 
 

• Statement of a witness driving by the scene, who observed an officer laying over Mr. 
Davis; 
 

• Social media, including the screenshot of the text conversation between Mr. Davis and 
Witness 1, which took place approximately 30 minutes prior to the altercation; 
 

• A video from Mr. Davis’s phone taken at 12:55 a.m. on February 7, 2017;18 
 

• Photographs of Mr. Davis’s body taken during the autopsy, at Buffalo General 
Hospital, and at a funeral home; 
 

• Photographs of Hoyt Street shortly after Mr. Davis was taken to the hospital; and 
 

• Photographs of Officers Parisi and McAlister shortly after the incident. 
 

Dr. Ostrow concurred with Dr. Maloney’s conclusions that Mr. Davis’s death was caused by 
an acute asthma attack. In his report, Dr. Ostrow stated: 

 
Mr. Davis’ lungs were those of someone with asthma and there are components 
consistent with an acute asthma attack. Severe, even fatal, asthma attacks can be 
triggered by exercise, stress, environmental pollutants, even cold air, all of which 
might have played a role in this case. The vulnerability to such an attack is enhanced 
by the presence of a viral infection or focal lung inflammation, such as Mr. Davis 
apparently experienced. The major features that were present and mentioned in the 
autopsy report are almost identical to the classic descriptions and illustrations of 
asthma in pathology textbooks.19 

                                                 
18 This is a video in which you can hear Mr. Davis’s labored breathing.  It is referenced in the ME’s autopsy report.  This 
video did not contribute to the formation of Dr. Ostrow’s opinions. 
 
19 A copy of Dr. Ostrow’s report and his curriculum vitae are attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 
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Dr. Ostrow found that the swollen eye, abrasions, and large scalp hemorrhage were not the 

cause of Mr. Davis’s death: “As to the physical injuries sustained by Mr. Davis, there is no evidence 
that those injuries per se were fatal. This is based upon the lack of related internal alterations [bruising 
or hemorrhaging], particularly in the brain.”  Dr. Ostrow also found that Mr. Davis’s death was not 
caused by positional asphyxia. 

 
LEGAL ANALYSIS 

In order to sustain a criminal charge, the evidentiary burden is on the State to: (a) prove that 
one or both officers committed a crime and (b) disprove that such conduct was justified as self-defense 
or force reasonably necessary to effect an arrest.  The evidence is insufficient to meet this burden and, 
therefore, no criminal charges are warranted. 

 
According to the officers, they suspected Mr. Davis was engaged in narcotics activity and 

sought to question him. He attempted to run away, they chased him, and a struggle ensued. An officer 
struck Mr. Davis in the face to subdue him, and Mr. Davis sustained injuries to his eye and other parts 
of his face prior to dying of what the ME and the independent pathologist attributed to an asthmatic 
event triggered by, among other things, physical exertion. Under the relevant law, officers are 
permitted to use reasonable force to effect an arrest; no evidence exists for the OAG to meet the 
evidentiary burden to establish that unnecessary force was used.20  People v. Lacy, 127 A.D.2d 933 
(3d Dept. 1987) (officers’ admitted use of physical force was reasonable to subdue suspect who had 
tried fleeing police and then began punching, biting and kicking the officers); see generally New York 
State Penal Law §35.30(1) (a police officer may: (1) “in the course of effecting or attempting to effect 
an arrest . . .  of a person whom he or she reasonably believes to have committed an offense” (2) “use 
physical force when and to the extent he or she reasonably believes such to be necessary to effect the 
arrest . . . .”).   

 
  

                                                 
 
20 According to the ME’s notes from her interview of the officers, the officers said that they used force against Mr. Davis 
both to subdue him and to stop him from swallowing drugs that Mr. Davis allegedly was carrying.  Officers are permitted 
to use reasonable force to stop the ingestion of drugs.  See People v. Cooper, 7 Misc. 3d 61 (App. Term, 1st Dept. 2005) 
(“[T]he reasonable use of force to prevent loss of evidence is permitted where drugs have been placed in the mouth by an 
arrestee.”) (citing People v. Matherine, 166 A.D.2d 322 (1st Dept. 1990)). 

http://buffalonews.com/2017/12/11/buffalo-police-appoint-lieutenant-to-head-accreditation-process/
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POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Executive Orders No. 147 and 147.9 provide that the OAG may offer “any recommendations for 

systemic reform arising from the investigation.”  Accordingly, we recommend the following:   
(1) the ME’s office should adopt policies consistent with National Association of Medical Examiners 
(“NAME”) standards; (2) the BPD should take steps to become accredited by the New York State 
Division of Criminal Justice Services (“DCJS”); and (3) the BPD should outfit its officers with body-
worn cameras. 

 
A. Medical Examiner Policies and Procedures 
 
The ME insisted on speaking with the officers involved (who clearly have an interest in the 

report’s conclusions) before making a scientific conclusion about the cause and manner of death.  The 
ME met with the officers jointly (with their attorneys) and without a member of the investigative team.  
Even more worrisome was the ME’s statement to the OAG investigative team before meeting with the 
officers: the ME indicated that if the officers did not meet with her, she would deem the cause of Mr. 
Davis’s death to be “positional asphyxia” and report that the BPD refused to cooperate with her.  In 
response, OAG specifically asked the independent expert whether he saw evidence of positional 
asphyxia in Mr. Davis’s autopsy, and he concluded that Mr. Davis’s death was not caused by positional 
asphyxia.  

  
Adoption of policies consistent with NAME standards would help provide assurance that the 

ME’s investigations are conducted in a professional manner.21 
 
B. BPD Should Seek State Certification22  

 
We strongly encourage the BPD to become a New York State-accredited law enforcement 

agency as a means of improving its policies and addressing some of the deficiencies that OAG noted 
during our review of this matter. In particular, the OAG found the BPD’s investigation of this matter 
lacking in the areas of evidence collection and documentation. For example, the officers’ radio and 
flashlight were picked up before being properly documented or photographed and half of Mr. Davis’s 
jacket was never recovered. There should have been better communication between the first officers 
on the scene and the evidence and photography units in order to ensure that all relevant areas were 
properly searched and all relevant investigative steps were documented.  

 
 
 
 

                                                 

21 According to Denise McNally, the Executive Director of the National Association of Medical Examiners ("NAME"), 
the Erie County Medical Examiner's Office was denied accreditation in 2010, due to deficiencies in the operation of the 
ME’s Office. 

22 According to an article in the Buffalo News dated December 11, 2017, BPD is taking steps to begin the accreditation 
process. http://buffalonews.com/2017/12/11/buffalo-police-appoint-lieutenant-to-head-accreditation-process/ 
 

http://www.criminaljustice.ny.gov/ops/accred/
http://buffalonews.com/2017/07/10/buffalo-police-want-test-body-cameras/
http://buffalonews.com/2017/07/10/buffalo-police-want-test-body-cameras/
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According to DCJS, the accreditation program has four goals, quoted here: 
  

1. Increased effectiveness and efficiency of law enforcement agencies utilizing existing 
personnel, equipment and facilities to the extent possible;  
 

2. Promotion of increased cooperation and coordination among law enforcement agencies and 
other agencies of the criminal justice services;  

 
3. Ensure appropriate training of law enforcement personnel; and 
 
4. Promotion of public confidence in law enforcement agencies.23 
 
The training and protocols required by the accreditation process would serve to assist the BPD 

in handling future incidents.   
 

C. BPD Should Outfit Officers with Body-Worn Cameras and Vehicles with Dashboard 
Cameras 

 
Although it has instituted a pilot program, BPD does not, as a general matter, outfit its officers 

with body-worn cameras or its cars with dashboard cameras.24  Indisputably, videotaped evidence 
would have greatly facilitated the investigation of this case.  We encourage the BPD and City of 
Buffalo policymakers to continue their efforts to outfit as many officers and vehicles as possible with 
body-worn and dashboard cameras. 
 
  

                                                 
23 See www.criminaljustice.ny.gov/ops/accred/. 
 
24 A pilot program involving 20 BPD officers is already in progress.  See http://buffalonews.com/2017/07/10/buffalo-
police-want-test-body-cameras/. 
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APPENDIX A 
 

Overview of Investigative Steps to Locate Witnesses and  
Other Evidence Concerning the Incident  

 
Several investigative steps were taken to identify witnesses and other evidence, to support or 

contradict the officers’ statements about the incident including: (1) several canvasses of the 
neighborhood for witnesses and surveillance video; (2) leads from Mr. Davis’s family and girlfriend; 
and (3) review of Mr. Davis’s cell phone and follow-up on leads obtained from the phone. 
 

1. Canvasses of the Neighborhood  
 

Shortly after the incident, BPD Homicide investigators began canvassing the area for possible 
witnesses. Thereafter, BPD and OAG investigators, both together and separately, repeatedly attempted 
to interview the residents near the scene on Hoyt Street (including Arnold Street) to find witnesses.  
Despite numerous efforts, only one person told the OAG that he witnessed any portion of the 
encounter: a man who resided on Arnold Street and happened to be driving past on February 7, 2017 
(“Witness 2”).   

 
On February 10, 2017, Witness 2 gave an oral statement to BPD Homicide investigators.  In 

that statement, he stated that as he drove past the police car, he saw a handcuffed man lying on the 
ground and two police officers “just standing there.”  On February 15, 2017, he gave OAG 
investigators a sworn statement stating that: (1) he was coming home from work and turned onto Hoyt 
Street; (2) he saw a marked police car pulled over on the right side of Hoyt Street, with its headlights 
on, but its flashing overhead lights off; (3)  two police officers and a man were on the ground in the 
street behind the police car; (4) “one officer [was] up on his knees with his arms out in front of him, 
down by the ground,” and the other officer was “sort of laying with his body across the guy who was 
on the ground”; (5) it was dark, and Witness 2 could not see the man’s face, if “the cops [were] fighting 
with the guy,” or “if the guy on the ground was moving – he looked pretty still.”  Witness 2 continued 
to drive home.  In sum, Witness 2 estimated that he watched the officers and the man on the ground 
for 10 seconds. The next day, he learned that the man was someone he knew from the neighborhood 
named “Meech” (a nickname for Mr. Davis). 

 
Both BPD and OAG investigators canvassed the area to obtain any private or public 

surveillance camera footage. They recovered several surveillance tapes but none had a view of the 
area on Hoyt Street where Mr. Davis and the police interacted.  The OAG did obtain two videos taken 
by civilians who resided near the scene. Neither captured any part of the confrontation between the 
officers and Mr. Davis.  Both depicted resuscitation efforts being given to Mr. Davis; one before an 
ambulance was on the scene and one after.  
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2. Leads from Mr. Davis’s Family and Girlfriend 
 

The attorney for Mr. Davis’s estate and the attorney for Mr. Davis’s girlfriend provided 
information about eight individuals who they believed might be possible witnesses to the altercation.  
OAG investigators actively pursued that information and all but two of the individuals mentioned were 
interviewed.  These six individuals told the OAG that they were unaware that there had been a 
confrontation between the police and Mr. Davis until they saw multiple police lights, well after the 
altercation was over.  

 
Multiple efforts to find and interview the remaining two people were made by both the 

investigative team and Mr. Davis’s family, including no less than five attempts for each of the two by 
the OAG. Both had moved and notices were left at their new addresses. Relatives of the two 
individuals were located and spoken to and asked to have the individuals contact OAG investigators. 
Phone contact was made on one occasion and an individual said “wrong number” and hung up.  OAG 
investigators sought the assistance of Mr. Davis’s family and their attorneys’ private investigators to 
ascertain the location of the missing witnesses, also without success. The OAG has learned that one 
of the missing witnesses died of an overdose on October 5, 2017. 
 

3. Mr. Davis’s Cellphones  
 
Mr. Davis had two phones, an iPhone and an Android.  He did not have these phones on his 

person when he was taken to the hospital. The OAG received these phones from Mr. Davis’s girlfriend, 
who told the OAG that she was provided them by an unknown man who saw her at a memorial display 
for Mr. Davis at 19 Hoyt Street. The investigative team traced the numbers of completed calls made 
by or to Mr. Davis on February 7, 2017 on both of his two cell phones to their subscribers. This 
included over 160 calls to and from over two dozen identified individuals. Repeated efforts were made 
to speak with each person. Several of the numbers were subsequently disconnected; some people 
refused to speak with the investigators. Of the individuals spoken to, no one witnessed any portion of 
the altercation between Mr. Davis and the officers. 

 
Investigators also sought to interview people who had called either of Mr. Davis’s phones after 

the altercation.  At 1:30 a.m. on February 8, 2017, a fifty-two second phone call was made to Mr. 
Davis’s iPhone from a phone owned by Mr. Davis’s aunt.  Investigators spoke with Mr. Davis’s aunt 
on June 26, 2017.  She said that she called Mr. Davis’s phone at that date and time and someone 
answered, but no one spoke. Mr. Davis’s aunt attempted to find out who had answered her nephew’s 
phone.  After several inquiries in the neighborhood, she found Witness 3, who told her that he was 
“hanging out” with Mr. Davis on the night of February 7.  Mr. Davis’s aunt said that Witness 3 told 
her that Mr. Davis feared the police in the area were about to stop him, so he asked Witness 3 to hold 
his two cell phones and a knife. She said that Witness 3 told her that, shortly thereafter, the police 
stopped Mr. Davis on Hoyt Street and told Witness 3 to leave. According to Mr. Davis’s aunt, Witness 
3 said he gave the phones to Mr. Davis’s girlfriend after Mr. Davis’s death. Once investigators had 
this information, they attempted to interview Witness 3, only to learn that he died of a narcotics 
overdose on April 15, 2017.  
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APPENDIX B 
 

Overview of Officer’s Statements Regarding the Incident 
 
The OAG was able to learn the officers’ account of what happened during the Incident through 

(1) statements made by Officers Parisi and McAlister at the scene; (2) “Use of Force” reports that each 
Officer created for the BPD shortly after the incident; (3) documentation of the officers’ condition at 
the stationhouse; and (4) an account of a joint interview of the two officers conducted by the ME that 
is discussed in the autopsy report and is reflected in notes taken by the ME about the joint interview.25  
After the OAG had reviewed all of the available evidence, the OAG reviewed statements that the 
officers made on February 8, 2017 to the BPD as part of the BPD’s administrative inquiry.  

 
1. Officers Parisi and McAlister’s Statements at the Scene 

 
            Lt. Kochersberger was the first supervisor to arrive on the scene on Hoyt Street. When he 
approached Officers Parisi and McAlister, they appeared disheveled and out of breath, consistent with 
having been in a struggle. Mr. Davis was handcuffed behind his back and on his stomach. Lt. 
Kochersberger asked Officer Parisi what had happened and was told that Mr. Davis had come out of 
19 Hoyt Street and “at some point took off on them.” Officer Parisi told Lt. Kochersberger that they 
were fighting with Mr. Davis and could not get him handcuffed. Officer Richard Cruz also asked both 
Officer Parisi and Officer McAlister individually what had happened. Each separately responded that 
Mr. Davis had come from 19 Hoyt, but provided no additional details.26 
 

2. Officer McAlister’s and Parisi’s BPD Use of Force Reports 
 

Both officers completed BPD Use of Force Reports before the end of their shift. See Exhibit 
4.  The form is a computerized checklist wherein the officer clicks on a drop-down box to answer 
questions. An officer must choose among the options offered in response to the questions and cannot 
write in other responses. No narrative was included in either report.  

 
a. Officer McAlister’s BPD Use of Force Report 

 
According to Officer McAlister’s report, the officers used force on Mr. Davis to “prevent 

escape.”  Officer McAlister’s report listed the types of resistance that Mr. Davis used against the 
officers as the following: “refused commands, aggressive, combative, escape, fighting with officers, 
fled, pushing, push off officers, and uncooperative.”  Officer McAlister’s report further noted that Mr. 
Davis sustained injuries to his eye and nose, described as “bloody,” and that Officer McAlister 
physically engaged Mr. Davis and made contact with Mr. Davis’s wrists and forearms.  

 
                                                 
25 Attached as Exhibit 4 are (a) the “Use of Force” reports and (b) the statements that the officers made as part of the 
administrative inquiry. As noted above, the ME’s notes concerning the ME’s interview of the officers are attached as 
Exhibit 2. Pursuant to Garrity v. N.J., 315 U.S. 493 (1967), each officer’s statements made in connection with the BPD 
administrative inquiry may not be used against that officer in a criminal proceeding. For that reason, the OAG reviewed 
these statements only after it had exhausted all other available evidence and concluded that charges were not warranted. 
 
26 According to several officers on the scene, Officers Parisi and McAlister were separated and advised not to speak to 
anyone. 
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b. Officer Parisi’s BPD Use of Force Report 
 

Officer Parisi’s Use of Force report listed the reason for the use of force against Mr. Davis as 
“protection of officers.”  Officer Parisi listed the types of resistance that Mr. Davis used against the 
officers as the following:  “aggressive, attempted to flee, combative, fighting stance, fighting with 
officers, foot chase, kicking, pulled away, punching, push off officers, pushing, refused commands, 
struggle with officers, uncooperative, violent.”  Officer Parisi noted that he used force and physically 
engaged Mr. Davis, making contact with his nose, both eyes, bicep area on both arms, and wrists. 

 
3. Documentation of Officers Parisi’s and McAlister’s Condition at the 

Stationhouse 
 

Both officers were transported to the B District stationhouse.  They were kept separate and 
photographed. Their uniforms were taken into evidence. The officers’ clothing was muddy, consistent 
with a physical altercation on a wet, muddy area. Officer Parisi had mud on his face. Officer 
McAlister’s radio was off of his uniform.  He was discovered to have sustained an injury to his wrist 
and was taken to a local hospital where he was treated and released. Officer McAlister voluntarily 
provided copies of his medical records to the OAG. Those records confirm that he sprained his right 
wrist as well as a finger on his left hand.  

 
4. The Medical Examiner’s Interview 

 
Officers Parisi and McAlister refused requests by the OAG to be interviewed unless they were 

interviewed jointly.  The OAG declined to do so, but the ME did insist on interviewing them, in the 
presence of their attorneys and without a member of the investigative team in attendance. That meeting 
occurred on April 4, 2017. Accordingly, her statements are a secondhand account of the officers’ 
collective recollection of events.  

 
Presented here are the statements the ME attributed to the officers in the autopsy report and in 

her typed “Case Notes” provided to the OAG. See Exhibit 2.27  
 

a. Statements Reported in the Autopsy Report 
 

[T]hey encountered the decedent on a routine patrol of the neighborhood. While they 
were speaking with him, the decedent would not take his hands out of his pockets 
despite several requests. One of the officers28 got out of the patrol car and attempted to 
handcuff the decedent as he was standing next to the car due to the continued placement 
of his hands in his pockets. He ran from them and they called for assistance [at 11:19:27 
p.m.].  They stated that the decedent ran down the street about 15-20 feet then tripped 
and fell. They caught up with him and noticed that as he was lying prone on the ground, 
he appeared to be trying to get something out of his pants. They stated they were 
concerned this could be drugs that he might attempt to swallow. They stated that they 
attempted to hold his chest up and struck his face to subdue him and keep him from 
reaching for whatever he was trying to get as they knelt to the right of him as he lay 

                                                 
27 A subpoena was issued for all of the ME’s notes.  No handwritten notes were received in response. 
 
28 The officer was identified by the ME to OAG investigators as Officer McAlister. 
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prone on the ground. During this time the decedent was struggling and reportedly 
shouting, ‘let me go.’  They were able to get his left then right hand in handcuffs at 
which point they called that he was in custody [at 11:21:03 p.m.]. 
 

b. The ME’s Notes of the Officers’ Statements 
 

The officers stated that they were in the neighborhood on routine patrol in their car. 
They saw the decedent walk out of a house. They rolled over to him in their car and 
asked, ‘why are you always coming out of a drug house?’ among other questions. The 
decedent told them that he had marijuana on his person but nothing else. The decedent 
kept putting his hands into his pockets. They asked him to keep his hands out of his 
pockets. The officer in the passenger seat got out of the car and indicated that he was 
going to handcuff the decedent because the decedent kept putting his hands into his 
pockets. The decedent ran and the officer grabbed his hood (in a horse collar like 
move), spraining his finger. At that point the other officer29 got out of the car and they 
called for back-up. They initially called in the wrong street, which was corrected by the 
first officer to arrive on the scene when he saw them. The decedent ran 15-20 feet down 
the street then tripped and fell on the wet pavement. Both officers ran after him. When 
they got to the decedent, he was prone and appeared to be reaching down into his pants. 
The officers thought he might be trying to retrieve and swallow drugs. One officer knelt 
beside him (to the decedent’s right) and wrapped his arm around the decedent’s upper 
chest trying to subdue him. During this time, the decedent was struggling and yelling, 
‘let me go.’ They finally got him handcuffed and he stopped struggling. At this point, 
other officers had arrived. They rolled him other [sic] to search for drugs.  Upon rolling 
him over, it was realized that he was not responsive.  Resuscitation was initiated and 
911 was called.  Rescue breaths were not given because the decedent had blood on his 
face.   
 
 
5. Officer Parisi’s and McAlister’s BPD P-73 Reports  
 
On February 8, 2017, Officers Parisi and McAlister each submitted P-73 narrative reports 

before the end of their shift as they were ordered to do. These statements are reproduced verbatim 
below.   

 
a. Statement by Officer Parisi 

 
This report has been prepared following the order to so from Chief Joseph Gramaglia. 
While on patrol driving north on Hoyt St. I observed a known male, from previous 
arrests come from the driveway of a known drug house at 19 Hoyt st. We stopped the 
male at approximately 15 Hoyt St. to further investigate. I engaged the male in 
conversation about the known drug house he just left. I asked the male if he had any 
illegal drugs on him, and.he .stated he '.' only had weed", .and that he had court in the 
morning and to just let him go. The man was repeatedly reaching into his pockets after 

                                                 
29 The officer was identified by the ME to OAG investigators as Officer Parisi. 
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being instructed to keep his hands where we could see them. At that point for our safety 
we decided we were going to momentarily handcuff him to check him more thoroughly. 
As we attempted to handcuff the male, he swung his arms towards ofc. Mcalister and 
took off northbound on Hoyt St. We chased after him and ofc. Mcalister grabbed the 
male by his hood from behind. The suspect started swinging at both of us in an attempt 
to escape. The male momentarily got loose and took off running southbound on Hoyt 
St. As we were chasing the male he tripped and fell to the ground at approximately 15 
Hoyt St. I went to the ground in an effort to handcuff the man. I believe my partner was 
right behind me. We were unable to handcuff the suspect because he was violently 
fighting with us. Prior to being handcuffed the man was attempting to kick and punch 
us. Before handcuffing him I punched the man in the face with a closed fist several 
times trying to subdue him and to protect myself and my partner. During the course of 
the confrontation for a short period of time I had the suspects head and neck in the 
crook of my arm attempting to subdue him. During this period of time the male was 
talking and asking us to let him go, or words to that effect. My partner assisted putting 
handcuffs on the suspect. During the course of all this we told the man to stop resisting 
and to give us his hands. We forcibly pulled his hands to the back to get him 
handcuffed. Once in custody I rolled the defendant over to his back, trying to get him 
up and to search him. Lt. Kochersberger who had just arrived on scene noticed the male 
wasn't breathing. We immediately rolled the man to remove handcuffs and start CPR. 
As soon as handcuffs were off ofc. Mcalister administered CPR. As soon as we noticed 
the suspect was not breathing Lt. Kochersberger called for ambulance and asked that it 
be stepped up. Fire and ADI showed up on scene and took over, I was put into Lt. 
Kochersbergers vehicle and taken back to the station. As a result of the encounter, both 
of our uniforms were dirty. Photos of our uniforms were taken by Lt. Swaggard and 
John Fecio. We submitted our uniforms as evidence. During the course of the fight with 
the suspect nothing other then my closed fist was used to protect us and subdue him.  
Neither I nor my partner used our batons against the suspect, there was no time or 
opportunity to use cap spray during this incident. I learned later that the suspect Wardel 
Davis 8/7/1996 had expired at the Buffalo General ER. When we first encountered the 
male we both knew who he was from previous arrests, etc. Our past information on Mr. 
Davis was that he was a drug dealer. Our street contacts had confirmed that the house 
Mr. Davis walked out of when we approached him was being used for narcotics 
dealings--especially over the last three weeks. Ofc. Mcalister did not preform mouth to 
mouth resuscitation because Mr. Davis had some bleeding around his mouth. We did 
not see Mr. Davis put anything into his mouth during the struggle and fight. Before we 
noticed Mr. Davis was in distress he was violent. Criminal records show Mr. Davis has 
a lengthy arrest history. Our quick search of Mr. Davis at the scene did not produce 
anything. My partner was taken to ECMC for examination to his wrists and fingers.  
 

b. Statement by Officer McAlister 
 

This report has been prepared following an order to do so by my Chief Joe Gramaglia. 
On February 7, 2017 at approximately 2317hrs while on routine patrol in Bravo 
District, we were headed north on Hoyt from.W. Ferry. We were in marked patrol 
vehicle 462, where I was the passenger and my partner Nick Parisi was driving. we 
observed a male leaving an address which we had known to be a drug house based on 
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previous complaints and neighborhood informants As we approached the individual 
while still in the marked patrol vehicle, the suspect was walking south positioned on 
the passenger side which would have been the east side of the street. I opened my door 
and approached the individual which I recognized from a previous arrest. I immediately 
told the suspect to take his hand out of his left jacket pocket and then I proceeded to 
stand behind him until my partner approached from the front. Officer Parisi asked the 
suspect if "he had anything illegal on him?" and the suspect stated "I have weed but I 
have court in the morning." the suspect began to reach in his pocket and was instructed 
to keep his hands out of his pockets. He kept reaching and I then told Ofc. Parisi that 
"I was going to cuff him." I pulled out my cuffs and grabbed his left arm to begin 
cuffing procedures, when the individual snatched his arm away and attempted to run. I 
was able to grab the suspect by his hoodie to stop him from running, but he still was 
able to flee. He was able to run in front of our parked patrol vehicle but was quickly 
grabbed. we were unable to get him to the ground and he was able to break free. Upon 
breaking free the suspect did swing at Officers before fleeing again. the suspect ran a 
short distance before slipping and falling to the ground not too far from the rear of the 
patrol vehicle. at that point, we were able to get on top of him and attempt to cuff him. 
While on the suspect I was able to inform the radio dispatcher where we were located. 
We constantly told the suspect to "stop resisting" but he still was not compliant with 
giving me his left arm. I was eventually able to get his left wrist cuffed and then the 
right wrist immediately followed. While cuffing him other officers arrived on scene. 
Once cuffed, I stood up and began to do a search of his person for weapons. At that 
point, LT Kochersberger observed that he may not have been breathing. I immediately 
removed one cuff from his wrist and began chest compressions. I completed 4 cycles 
of 30 compressions without respirations because his mouth was bloody. Ofc. Bonner 
took over compressions and I was placed in patrol vehicle 620 awaiting instruction.I 
was removed from the scene by Lt. Swaggard and returned to the bravo District station 
house. Pictures of my uniform were taken and my clothes were given to homicide. I 
was seen and released from ECMC for a sprained left finger and a sprained right wrist. 
 
I have no idea what caused Wardel Davis to go into distress. I did not use my baton or 
cap spray against Mr. Davis. 
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Other Professional Activities 
 NIH Cardiovascular and Renal Study Section, Ad hoc member, 1983  
 NIH Special Study Section on Short Term Training Grants, Member, 1984, 89,  
  90(chairman)  
 NIH Neurology B1 Study Section, Member, 1985-89  
 NIH Reviewers Reserve, 1989-94  
 Medical Reporter, WIVB- TV (CBS affiliate), Buffalo, 1988-2014  
 Chairman, Great American Smokeout, American Cancer Society, Erie County  
  Chapter, 1989-2000   
 Medical Advisory Board, Alzheimer’s Disease Association, WNY Chapter, 1989-2000  
 Board of Directors, Alzheimer’s disease association, WNY Chapter, 2001-2004  
 Medical Scientific Advisory Board, Association for Research of Childhood Cancer,  
  1991-2001  
 Scientific Review Committee, Margaret Duffy and Robert Cameron Troup Fund, 1993- 
   2000 
 Major Thesis Advisor:  
  Jeffrey Stiles, Ph.D., "Growth Factors in Human Glioma" 1993-1996  
           Laura Hartrich, Ph.D., “Cellular Trafficking in Multiple Sclerosis” 2001-2004 
 President, The Boys of Birkenau, Inc., 1995-present 
 Board of Directors, Hauptman-Woodward Medical Research Institute, 1996-2011  
  Vice Chairman, 1997-2003  
 Co-Medical Director, Research Center for Stroke and Heart Disease, 2000-2003 
 Founding Director, Kenneth Alford Medical Education Center, 2002-2004 
 Board of Directors, Western New York Wellness Works, 2005-2010 
 Member, Roswell Park Medical Club, 2007 – present  
 Editorial Board, Buffalo Healthy Living, 2010-present 
  
 
Honors and Awards 
 Alpha Omega Alpha  
 Sigma Xi  
 Basic Sciences Teaching Award, Freshman Class, University of Texas Medical School 
  at Houston, 1977- 78, 1978- 79, 1979-80  
 Special Appreciation Award, UTMSH Sophomore Class, 1980-81  
 "Best Second Year Teacher," UTMSH, 1981-82, 1982-83, 1983-84  



 John H. Freeman Outstanding Teacher Award, Graduating Class, UTMSH, 1982  
 Outstanding Clinical Teaching Award, Senior Class, UTMSH, 1983, 1984, 1985 
 Elected Student Marshall for Commencement, UTMSH, 1982, 1984  
 Invited Speaker at Commencement Dinner, UTMSH, 1983, 1984, 1985  
 Commendation for Teaching Excellence in the Basic Sciences, SUNY at Buffalo  
  School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, 1990-91  
 Best Media Coverage, Great American Smokeout, New York State Division, American 
  Cancer Society, 1988, 1990, 1991, 1992, 1993, 1994  
 National GASPAR ("Great American Smokeout Par Excellence") award, 1990, 1991, 
  1992, 1993, 1994   
 "Outstanding Chairman" citation, Great American Smokeout, American Cancer  
  Society, Erie County Chapter, 1990 
 Best Television Feature ("Steps to Survival: What Women Should Know About Breast 
  Cancer"), American Cancer Society New York State Media Awards Competition,  
  1991  
 "Aspiration Award" for best individual news report dealing with lung disease, American 
  Lung Association, New York State Medical Reporting Competition, 1992  
 Coalition for a Tobacco Free Erie County "World No Tobacco Day" honoree, May 31, 
  1996  
 Erie-Niagara Tobacco-Free Coalition Media Award, May 10, 1999  
 "Golden Microphone Award," National Kidney Foundation, Western New York  
  Chapter, 2000  
 Louis and Ruth Siegel Distinguished Teaching Award for Basic Sciences, SUNY at  
  Buffalo School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, 2000  
 Great American Smokeout Leadership Award, American Cancer Society, Eastern  
  Division, 2000 
 “Best Doctors in America”, 2000-2005 
 Award for outstanding CME Collaboration (national), Alliance for Continuing Medical 
  Education, 2003 
 “Gift of Life Award” National Kidney Foundation, Western New York Chapter, 2004 
 Commendation for Teaching Excellence in the Basic Sciences, SUNY at Buffalo 

 School of Medicine  and Biomedical Sciences, 2004-5 
       Outstanding Media Partner, Western New York Tobacco Free Programs, 2006 
       Commendation for Teaching Excellence in the Basic Sciences, SUNY at Buffalo 
 School of Medicine  and Biomedical Sciences, 2010-11 
       Special mention, New York State AP awards, “Stop Targeting Kids” TV 
 documentary about tobacco marketing to youth, 2010 
       Media Award, Medical Society of Erie County, 2012 
       Commendation for Teaching Excellence, SUNY at Buffalo School of Medicine 
 and Biomedical Sciences, 2012-13 
       Commendation for Teaching Excellence, SUNY at Buffalo School of Medicine 
 and Biomedical Sciences, 2015-16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Publications (excluding abstracts) 
 
1. Rogers, L.W. and Ostrow, P.T. The prune belly syndrome: Report of 20 cases 

and description of a lethal variant. J.Pediat. 5:786-93, 1974.  

2. White, J.J., Donahoo, J.J., Ostrow, P.T., Murphy, J., and Haller,J .A., Jr. 
Cardiovascular and pulmonary manifestations of pulmonary sequestration in 
childhood. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 18:286-94, 1974.  

3. Merimee, T.J., Ostrow, P.T. and Aisner, S. Clinical and Pathological studies in a 
growth hormone-deficient dwarf. Johns Hopkins Medical Journal, 136:150-4, 
1975.  

4. Hutchins, G.M. and Ostrow, P.T. The pathogenesis of the two forms of 
hypertensive pulmonary vascular disease. American Heart Journal 92:797-
803,1976.  

5. Campell, J.N., Black, P., and Ostrow, P. T. sarcoid of the cauda equina.  Journal of 
Neurosurgery, 47:109-12, 1977.  

6. Moxon, E.R., and Ostrow, P.T. Hemophilus influenzae meningitis in infant rats: 
The role of bacteremia in the pathogenesis of the age-dependent inflammatory 
responses in cerebrospinal fluid. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 135:303-7, 
1977.  

7. Bachman, D.S., and Ostrow, P.T. Fatal long-term sequela following radiation 
"cure" for ependymoma. Ann. Neuro1. 4:319-321, 1978.  

8. Ostrow, P.T., Moxon, E.R., Vernon, N., and Kapko, R. The pathogenesis of 
bacterial meningitis: Studies of the route of meningeal invasion following 
hemophilus influenzae inoculation of infant rats. Laboratory Investigation, 40, 678-
85, 1979.  

9. Kaufman, H., Cohen, G., Glass, T.F., Huchton, J .B., Pruessner, J., Ostrow, P.T., 
Andia-Waltenbaugh, A., and Dujovny, M. Computer-assisted tomographic atlas of 
the dog brain. Journal of Computer-Assisted Tomograph. 5:529-537, 1981.  

10. Shalen, P.R., Ostrow, P.T., and Glass, P.J. White matter enhancement after central 
nervous system prophylaxis for leukemia: Radiation effect and methotrexate 
leukoencephalopathy. Radiology, 140: 409-412, 1981.  

11. Zacur, H.A., Mitch, W.E., Foster, G.V., Ostrow, P.T., and Tyson, J.E.  
A new method for studying the physiological regulation of pituitary prolactin 
secretion in the rat: Demonstration of rapid and reversible inhibition of prolactin 
secretion by dopamine. Am.J .Physiology, 242 (Endocrinol. Metab. 5): E226-
233,1982.  

12. Hayman, L.A., Evans, R.A., Fahr, L.M., Ferrell, R.E., Ostrow, P.T., and Riccardi, 
V.M. Familial cavernous angiomas: Natural history and genetic study over a 5-year 
period. American Journal of Medical Genetics, 11: 147-160, 1982.  

 
13. Disclafani, A., Kohl, S., and Ostrow, P. T. The importance of brain biopsy in 

suspected herpes simplex encephalitis. Surgical Neurology, 17:101-106, 1982.  
 



14. Kaufman, H., Ostrow, P., and Butler,I. Brain Biopsy. Ch. 26 of Neurosurgery 
edited by Wilkins and Rengachary, McGraw-Hill, 1983. 

15. Hayes, B., Ostrow, P.T., and Clark, D.E. Benzylamine oxidase in normal and 
atherosclerotic human aortae. Experimental and Molecular Pathology 38:243-254, 
1983.  

16. Kaufman, H.H., Pruessner, J.L., Bernstein, D.P., Borit, A., Ostrow, P.T., Cahall, D.L. 
A Rabbit Model of Intracerebral Hematoma. Acta Neuropathol 65:318-21, 1985.  

16. Grotta, J., Ostrow, P.T., Fraifeld, E. and Hartmann, D. Fibrinogen, blood  
 viscosity, and cerebral ischemia. Stroke, 16, 192-198, 1985.  .  

17. Grotta, J., Spydell, J., Pettigrew, C., Ostrow, P. T., and Hunter, D. The Effect of 
Nicardipine on Neuronal Function Following Ischemia.  
Stroke 17:213-219, 1986.  

18. Boileau, M., Grotta, J.C., Borit, A., Vanderlinden, C., Nath, A., Ostrow, P., 
Kopaniky, D. Metastatic Renal cell Carcinoma Simulating Glomus Jugulare 
Tumor. J. Surgical Oncology 35:201-203, 1987.  

19. Rosenbaum, D.M., Grotta, J.C., Pettigrew, L.C., Ostrow, P., Strong, R., Rhoades, 
H., Picone, C.M., Grotta, A.T. Baclofen pre-treatment prevents glutamate release 
but does not protect against cerebral ischemia. Stroke 21:138-40, 1990.  

20. Grotta, J., Piccone, C,, Ostrow, P., Strong, R., Earls, R., Yao, l., Rhoades, H.,and 
Dedman, J.  CGS-19755, a competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, reduces 
calcium-calmodulin binding and improves outcome after global cerebral ischemia.  
Annals of Neurology 27: 612-9, 1990 

21. DeGraba, Y., Ostrow, P., Earls, R., Zong,Z., and Grotta, J. Temporal relation of 
calcium-calmodulin binding and neuronal damage after global ischemia in rats.  
Stroke, 23: 876-82, 1992  

22. Ostrow PT. Miller LL. Pathology of small artery disease. [Review] [62 refs] 
Advances in Neurology. 62:93-123, 1993.  

23. DeGraba TJ. Ostrow PT. Grotta JC. Threshold of calcium disturbances after focal 
cerebral ischemia in rats. Implications of the window of therapeutic opportunity. 
Stroke. 24(8):1212-6; discussion 1216-7, 1993. 

24. Hanson SK. Grotta JC. Waxham MN. Aronowski J. Ostrow P. Calcium/calmodulin-
dependent protein kinase II activity in focal ischemia with reperfusion in rats. 
Stroke. 25(2):466-73, 1994. 

25. Pullicino PM. Jacobs L. McCall WD Jr. Garvey M. Ostrow PT. Miller LL. 
Spontaneous  palpebromandibular synkinesia: a localizing clinical sign. Annals of 
Neurology. 35(2):222-8, 1994.   

26. DeGraba TJ. Ostrow P. Hanson S. Grotta JC. Motor performance, histologic 
damage, and calcium influx in rats treated with NBQX after focal ischemia. Journal 
of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism. 14(2):262-8, 1994. 

27. Aronowski J. Ostrow P. Samways E. Strong R. Zivin JA. Grotta JC. Graded 
bioassay for demonstration of brain rescue from experimental acute ischemia in 
rats. Stroke. 25(11):2235-40, 1994. 

28. Pullicino P. Ostrow P. Miller L. Snyder W. Munschauer F. Pontine ischemic 



rarefaction. Annals of Neurology. 37(4):460-6, 1995. 

29. Blatt GL. Ahuja A. Miller LL. Ostrow PT. Soloniuk DS. Cerebellomedullary 
ganglioglioma: CT and MR findings.  American Journal of Neuroradiology. 
16(4):790-2, 1995.  

30. Pullicino PM. Miller LL. Alexandrov AV. Ostrow PT. Infraputaminal 'lacunes'. 
Clinical and pathological correlations. [Review] Stroke. 26(9):1598-602, 1995.  

31. Stiles JD. Ostrow PT. Balos LL. Greenberg SJ. Plunkett R. Grand W. Heffner RR 
Jr. Correlation of endothelin-1 and transforming growth factor beta 1 with 
malignancy and vascularity in human gliomas. Journal of Neuropathology & 
Experimental Neurology. 56(4):435-9, 1997. 

32. Barone TA. Plunkett RJ. Hohmann P. Lis A. Glenister N. Barcos M. Ostrow PT. 
Spence PM. Greenberg SJ. An experimental model of human leukemic meningitis 
in the nude rat. Blood. 90(1):298-305, 1997. 

33. The Upstate New York Stroke Consortium.  Best practices for secondary stroke 
prevention.  2001 

34. Giglio P. Bakshi R. Block S. Ostrow P. Pullicino PM. Primary central nervous 
system lymphoma masquerading as herpes encephalitis: clinical, magnetic 
resonance imaging, and pathologic findings. American Journal of the Medical 
Sciences. 323(1):59-61, 2002. 

35. Kuperan, S, Ostrow, PT, Landi, M, Bakshi, B: Acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis 
vs. ADEM: FLAIR-MRI and neuropathology findings.  Neurology. 60(4):721-2, 2003 

36. Qureshi AI, Suri MFK, Ostrow PT, Kim SH, Ali Z, Shatla AA, Guterman LR, 
Hopkins LN. Apoptosis as a form of cell death in intracerebral hemorrhage. 
Neursosurgery 52(5):1041-7, 2003. 

37. Ray, AD, Roberts, AJ, Lee, SD, Farkas, GA, Michlin, C, Rifkin, DI, Ostrow, PT, 
Krasney, JA.  Exercise delays the hypoxic thermal response in rats.  J Appl 
Physiol. 95:272-278, 2003. 

38. Zhao XF. Sands AM. Ostrow PT. Halbiger R. Conway JT. Bagg A. Recurrence of 
nodal diffuse large B-cell lymphoma as intravascular large B-cell lymphoma: is an 
intravascular component at initial diagnosis predictive?. Arch. Pathol Lab Med. 
129:391-4, 2005. 

39. Pan JJ. Chang WJ. Barone TA. Plunkett RJ. Ostrow PT. Greenberg SJ Increased 
expression of TGF-beta1 reduces tumor growth of human U-87 Glioblastoma Cells 
in vivo. Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy. 55:918-27, 2006. 

40. Khoury T. Gonzalez-Fernandez F. Munschauer FE. Ostrow P.  A 47-year-old man 
with sudden onset of blindness, pleocytosis, and temporary hearing loss. Vogt-
Koyanagi-Harada syndrome (Uveomeningoencephalitic syndrome).  Archives of 
Pathology & Laboratory Medicine. 130:1070-2, 2006. 

41. Sternberg Z, Ostrow P, Vaughn M, Chichelli T, Munschauer F  AGE-RAGE in 
multiple sclerosis brain. Immunological Investigations. 40(2): 197-205, 2011  
 
 

 
 



 
 
 
Medical/Scientific Video Productions and News reports 
 
Approximately 2,000 broadcast medical news reports on WIVB-TV, the CBS affiliate in 

Buffalo, 1988-2014. 
 
Several longer medical video productions, including: 
 
Ostrow, PT, Steps to Survival: What Women Should Know About Breast Cancer.   ½ hour  
     TV broadcast; awarded “Best TV Feature” by the American Cancer Society NYS, 1991   
 
Ostrow, PT, Interferon in Multiple Sclerosis.  1-hour CME Program on CD-ROM, 2003 
 
Ostrow, PT, Is Cancer in Your Family Tree?  A series of broadcast news reports about  
      familial aspects of cancer; used in collaboration with a program developed at Roswell  
      Park Cancer Center and awarded “Best CME Collaboration by the Alliance for       
      Continuing Medical Education, 2003 
    
Ostrow, PT, Cognitive Impairment in Multiple Sclerosis.  1-hour CME Program on CD-
ROM,  2004 
 
Ostrow, PT, Brain Atrophy in Multiple Sclerosis. 1-hour CME program on CD-ROM, 2005 
 
Ostrow, PT, Mombrea, M, Nelson, K, Confronting CJD and Other Prion Diseases:  
      Science, Sense, Support.  1-hour CME and public education program on DVD, 2006,  
      currently online at http://www.neuroprion.org/en/DVD-2007.html  
       
Ostrow, PT, Mombrea, M,  Keeping the Beat.  ½ hour TV broadcast about implanted    
      medical devices, WIVB-TV, 2006 
 
Ostrow, PT, Mombrea, M, Kidney Donors: Heroes Who Save Lives, 1-hour program about    
     kidney transplantation and living/altruistic donation, 2008 
 
Ostrow, PT, Mombrea, M, Stop Targeting Kids.  ½ hour TV broadcast about tobacco-    
      related illness and cigarette marketing to youth, 2010.  Currently online at  
      www.stoptargetingkids.com.  Special Mention New York State AP award for “Coverage  
      of a single subject in depth,” 2010.   
 

 

http://www.neuroprion.org/en/DVD-2007.html
http://www.stoptargetingkids.com/
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